I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS 

The Petitioners are the Estate of Kathryn Joyce Rathbone and its 

Personal Representative, Todd Rathbone. The Petitioners were 

Respondents in the trial court Tmst and Estate Dispute Resolution Act 

(TEDRA) action and Appellants in the Court of Appeals. 

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The Estate and Personal Representative are seeking review of the 

unpublished opinion of Division III of the Court of Appeals filed on 

Febmary 9, 2017 (Appendix Ex. A) and the Court of Appeals Orders 

refusing to publish the opinion and denying the Estate and Personal 

Representative's Motion for Reconsideration filed on March 14, 2017. 

(Appendix Ex. B) 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

The Court of Appeals and the probate judge have made mlings that 

effectively eliminate the nonintervention rights provided in most probate 

actions. The filings are in conflict with a number of the decisions of the 

Supreme Court; are in conflict with a published decision of the Court of 

Appeals; and involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be 

_ de_!ef111ine_d_ b_y the_ Supreille _Col.lrt_. 
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Nonintervention powers are the single most effective way to 

control the costs of probating a will. Probates are on the rise and it is vital 

that we continue to control probate costs to provide the public the broadest 

access to the probate court at an affordable cost. 1 Washington and Texas2 

have been in lead in providing cost effective probate through a 

nonintervention process. The Court of Appeals mling creates a new 

exception to nonintervention that, if upheld, will basically emasculate the 

right of nonintervention and return probate to the costly and burdensome 

1 .Numerous commentators mention public hostility to probate because of its cost 
and lack of privacy. See Karen J. Sneddon, Karen J. Sneddon, Beyond the 
Personal Representative: The Potential of Succession Without Administration, 50 
S. Tex. L. Rev. 449, 460-61 (2009) ("[P]ublic perception of probate remains 
negative. Individuals' concerns about administration can be categorized as 
follows: (1) cost, (2) delay, and (3) privacy."); John H. Martin, John H. Martin, 
Non-Judicial Estate Settlement, 45 U. Mich. J.L. Reform 965, 993 (2012) JOEL 
C. DOBRIS ET AL., ESTATES AND TRUSTS, CASES AND MATERIALS 46 
(2d ed. 2002) (Testators seek to avoid the probate process because of its 
reputation sometimes but not always deserved for delay and expense.); Earl M. 
Bucci, Comm. on Admin. and Distribution of Decedents Estates, Clearing Titles 
of Heirs to Intestate Real Property, 10 REAL PROP. PROB. & TR. J. 454, 459 
(1975) (describing administration as expensive and time-consuming); Susan N. 
Gary, Susan N. Gary, Transfer-on-Death Deeds: The Nonprobate Revolution 
Continues, 41 Real Prop. Prob. & Tr. J. 529, 531 (2006)(Many people choose to 
avoid the probate process, either because of concerns about delays and cost or 
because of a desire for privacy.); Adam J. Hirsch, Adam J. Hirsch, Inheritance 
Law, Legal Contraptions, and the Problem of Doctrinal Change, 79 Or. L. Rev. 
527, 542 (2000) (describing probate as time-consuming and costly); Martin, 
Reconfiguring Estate Settlement supra note 1, at 48 (Delay, expense, and lack of 
privacy are three universal criticisms of probate.); 

2 Texas has the most developed nonintervention procedure referred to as 
unsupervised administration. Unsupervised administration, in various 
incarnations, has existed in Texas since 1843. See Karen J. Sneddon, Karen J. 

··Sneddon, Beyond the- Personal-Representative:-The· Potential of -succession
Without Administration, 50 S. Tex. L. Rev. 449, 466 (2009) 
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process that it is in many other states. Unhappy beneficiaries and others 

will be able to avoid nonintervention and start litigation in probate courts 

by simply filing a Petition for approval of fees under RCW 11.68.010 even 

though the statute simply permits beneficiaries to have the probate court 

approve fees for attorneys, accountants and appraisers and to have the 

estate account for the payment of those fees. The legislature never 

intended that the statute would confer general jurisdiction on the probate 

court to interpret wills or litigate other issues related to the 

nonintervention probate. This mling is of great public importance and, if 

left standing, will significantly increase probate litigation and the costs of 

probate. 

The probate judge erroneously mled that the TEDRA statute 

(RCW 11.96A) independently confers general jurisdiction on the probate 

court to hear all matters related to a nonintervention probate, effectively 

invalidating the nonintervention statutes that since statehood have limited 

the court's jurisdiction to litigate probate matters. TEDRA is a 

supplemental statute that was adopted only to provide a mechanism to 

litigate matters that are otherwise allowed to be litigated under the 

exceptions to nonintervention. It was never intended to create jurisdiction. 

The probate judge's mling will open the floodgate of probate litigation 

and significantly eliminare-nontntetverttlon powers-. 
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Finally, the probate judge erroneously determined that RCW 

11.68.070 (a statute that permits the removal of a personal representative 

for misfeasance) conferred upon the probate court general jurisdiction to 

hear an action to contest the will, even though no misfeasance was 

claimed or proved. Again, this ruling effectively neuters nonintervention 

powers. 

These rulings significantly impact the public and will dramatically 

increase the costs of probates. Furthermore, the rulings are in direct 

conflict with a number of opinions of this Court and the Court of Appeals 

regarding nonintervention powers and the limited exceptions to 

nonintervention. The specific issues before this Court are: 

A. Did the Court of Appeals err in deciding that RCW 11.68.110, a 
statute that authorizes the probate court to review and approve 
attorney fees and accounting fees incurred in the probate, conferred 
general jurisdiction upon the probate court to interpret the 
provisions of a will in a nonintervention probate where the 
nonintervention statutes (RCW 11.68 et. seq.) specifically deny 
jurisdiction to the court to interpret the will? 

B. Did the probate judge err in ruling that the TEDRA, statute (RCW 
11.96A et. seq.) independently confers upon the probate court 
general jurisdiction to interpret a will thereby invalidating the 
nonintervention statutes (RCW 11.68 et. seq.) and this Court's 
previous rulings that deny jurisdiction to the probate court in 
nonintervention probates? 

C. Did the probate court err in deciding that in this nonintervention 
probate RCW 11.68.070, a statute that permits the court to remove 
a personal representative for misfeasance, provided the court with 
jurisdiction --to interpret- the will, where the -Beneficiary -mea a 
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TEDRA action to interpret the will but had not claimed that RCW 
11.68.070 applied, did not seek an evidentiary hearing to determine 
if there was misfeasance, and was not seeking to remove the 
personal representative? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This is a nonintervention probate. Pursuant to the clear terms of the 

will and the nonintervention statures, the Personal Representative alone 

had the authority to constme the will. Kathryn Joyce Rathbone died on 

January 31, 2013. In her will she named her son Todd Rathbone as the 

personal representative of the Decedent's estate. He was appointed to 

serve without court intervention. CP 24 (~2). The decedent was 

particularly concerned that her son Glen would interfere with the probate 

of her will. In an effort to ensure that Glen would not interfere the 

decedent's will specifically provided: 

"5.4 NO CONTEST PROVISION. My Personal Representative 
and Tmstee shall have the authority to constme this Will and tmsts 
and to resolve all matters pertaining to disputed issues or 
controverted claims. I do not want to burden my Estate or any 
tmst with the cost of a litigated proceeding to resolve questions of 
law or fact. 

*** 
**** I specifically desire that my son, Glen, and his children, do 
not contest, challenge, or harass my Personal Representative and 
Tmstees. The term "contest" identifies any action or activity 
originated (or caused to be originated) in a court of any jurisdiction 
without the permission of my Personal Representative or Tmstee .. 

" 
(Emphasis added)(App. Ex. C) 
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The Personal Representative carried out his duties including 

construing the will regarding the purchase of some real estate from the 

estate. On December 23, 2014, the Estate issued out a Notice of 

Completion of Probate. On January 22, 2015 Respondent Glen Rathbone 

filed a Petition for an Accounting of Fees and Costs pursuant to RCW 

11.68.110. (CP 115-16) This Petition for Accounting made no reference to 

any questions related to the interpretation of the will. Respondent sought 

only an approval or disapproval of the proposed fees or for an order 

requiring an accounting of the fees. (!d) The Petition was not noted for 

hearing and has not yet been heard. 

On February 6, 2015 Respondent filed a Petition for Order 

Construing Will. The Petition stated that it was "based upon RCW 

11.96A3 and RCW 11.12.2304
." (CP 1) In the petition the Respondent 

asked the probate judge to construe the will. (CP 8) The TEDRA petition 

did not claim that the previously filed Petition for Accounting was the 

jurisdictional basis for his TEDRA action. The TEDRA petition did not 

ask for a hearing on the accounting for fees and costs; did not set forth any 

3 The TEDRA statute. 

4 Which states, "All courts and others concerned in the execution oflast wills 
- shall have due regard to the direction of the will,-and the true-intent and-meaning -
of the testator, in all matters brought before them." 
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objection to the proposed payment of fees and costs; and did not challenge 

the proposed distribution offees and costs. (CP 1-21) 

A hearing was held on the TEDRA Petition to Constme the Will 

on November 12, 2015. The probate judge asked if this was a TEDRA 

action "challenging fees and for requesting an accounting" according to 

provisions set out in RCW 11.68.110. VRP, Page 7, Lines 14-17. 

Respondent represented that an accounting had been requested but was not 

part of this TEDRA proceedings. VRP, Page 7. The trial court specifically 

addressed the argument that RCW 11.68.110 would be an independent 

basis for jurisdiction of the TEDRA action and rejected the argument. 

(VRP 6:23- 8:15) The trial judge stated: 

THE COURT: The subject matter of this petition is not to ask 
about an accounting, per se, and it's not challenging fees. It's 
arguing about the interpretation of the statute. So, arguably, 
[RCW] 11.68.110 doesn't apply. 

**** 
THE COURT: Am I-- I mean you tell me if I'm wrong. Because 
I'm reading [RCW] 11.68.11 0, and I'm trying to figure out if that 
applies or not. It doesn't appear to, based on the issue that's being 
raised, which is the interpretation of section 4.1.3 [ofthe will]. 

The probate judge did not base his jurisdiction to hear the TEDRA petition 

on RCW 11.68.11 0. Instead, he based his jurisdiction on RCW 11.68.070, 

the removal for misconduct statute. (VRP 43-44) In the alternative the 

trial judge mled that that the TEDRA statute independently provided 

7 



I 
I 

-+ 

jurisdiction to the court in this non-intervention Will. (Id) The Estate and 

its Personal Representative appealed the probate court~s ruling. 

On appeal, the Court of Appeals erroneously determined that the 

probate judge had jurisdiction to hear the TEDRA petition to construe the 

will based on the fee approval statute, RCW 11.68.11 0. This ruling is an 

unwarranted expansion of the authority of this statute and the Court of 

Appeals ruling is directly contrary to a number of cases from this Court 

regarding the probate court's jurisdiction in a nonintervention probate. 

The Respondent's TEDRA petition was not based on RCW 

11.68.0705
, did not allege any specific fraud or mismanagement of the 

estate and did not seek to remove the Personal Representative. The 

probate judge did not hold any evidentiary hearing under the 

mismanagement statute and had no undisputed factual basis to decide this 

case under that statute. 

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED 

A. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN DECIDING THAT 
RCW 11.68.110 CONFERRED GENERAL JURISDICTION 
UPON THE PROBATE COURT TO INTERPRET THE 
PROVISIONS OF A WILL IN A NONINTERVENTION 
PROBATE AND THIS RULING IS CONTRARY TO CASE 

5 THE COURT: Do you think this is a matter under 11.68.070, which is the one 
that talks about --well, it talks about replacing a PR, but also talks about 
restricting their powers. Does this fall under that statute? 
MR. F0WI::,ES: Probably not. We're not askingforthat kind of remedy. (VRP s~ 
9) 
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LAW AND WILL HAVE SUBSTANTIAL IMPACT ON 
THE COST OF PROBATES TO THE PUBLIC 

As early as 1898 our courts have recognized the right of a decedent 

to have her estate probated without the intervention of the court. Moore v. 

Kirkman, 19 Wash. 605, 54 P. 24 (1898) See also, State v. Superior Court 

of Pierce Cty., 21 Wash. 575, 578, 59 P. 483, 484 (1899) This Court has 

consistently ruled that once the superior court declares that a 

nonintervention estate is solvent, the superior court loses jurisdiction 

unless the executor or another person with statutorily conferred authority 

properly invokes it again. In re Estate of Jones, 152 Wash. 2d 1, 9, 93 P.3d 

147 (2004) noted: 

"[O]nce the decedent dies, the personal representative applies for 
an order of solvency, and the court has jurisdiction to grant or deny the 
order. However, once an order of solvency is entered the court loses 
jurisdiction. The court may regain jurisdiction only if the executor or 
another person with statutorily conferred authority invokes jurisdiction." 
Id. at 9 (citing In re Coates' Estate, 55 Wash. 2d 250, 347 P.2d 875 (1959) 

The decision of the Court of Appeals here is directly contrary to 

the time honored principle of nonintervention established by this Court. 

The Court of Appeals creates an entirely new exception to the 

nonintervention rule by misconstruing RCW 11.68.1 0. 

RCW 11.68.110 provides in relevant part: 

(2) Subject to the requirement of notice as provided in this section, 
unless an heir, * * * . of a decedent petitions the court either for an 
-order-req:u1iingtl:ie i:iersonairepresentative to obtain col.ui approval 
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of the amount of fees paid or to be paid to the personal 
representative, lawyers, appraisers, or accountants, or for an order 
requiring an accounting, or both, within thirty days from the date 
of filing a declaration of completion of probate, the personal 
representative will be automatically discharged without further 
order of the court and the representative's powers will cease thirty 
days after the filing of the declaration of completion of probate, 
and the declaration of completion of probate shall, at that time, be 
the equivalent of the entry of a decree of distribution in accordance 
with chapter 11.76 RCW for all legal intents and purposes. 

This statute does not confer broad based jurisdiction on the court 

but only allows the petitioner to seek either an approval of the fees paid to 

personal representatives, attorneys, accountants and appraisers or seek an 

order from the court requiring the personal representative to account for 

the fees paid to personal representative, lawyers, appraisers, or 

accountants. The statute does not open the door for the probate court to 

mle on issues related to the personal representative's constmction of a will 

in this nonintervention probate. There is no case law in Washington that 

would support an extension of jurisdiction of this fee accounting statute to 

broader issues like the interpretation of a will in a nonintervention probate. 

The Court of Appeals interpretation of this statute would basically 

invalidate the nonintervention powers and the case law in this state that 

grants the personal representative broad powers to manage a 

nonintervention estate. 
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This accounting statute RCW 11.68.110 has been cited in 10 

reported Washington appellate cases and actually discussed in 7 of them. 

Not one of these cases suggests that RCW 11.68.110 would extend 

jurisdiction to the court to decide issues such as a will interpretation. All 

of the cases clearly deal only with matters of approval and accounting of 

fees and costs paid to a specific category of professional. See generally, 

Barros v. Barros, 26 Wash. App. 363, 364, 613 P.2d 547, 548 (1980); 

Judson v. Associated Meats & Seafoods, 32 Wash. App. 794, 796, 651 

P.2d 222, 224 (1982); Estate of Carlson, 40 Wash. App. 827, 834, 700 

P.2d 771, 776 (1985); In re Estate of Bobbitt, 60 Wash. App. 630, 806 

P.2d 254 (1991)(Applying the statute to an heirs petition for court review 

of fees and expenses); Meryhew v. Gillingham, 77 Wash. App. 752, 754, 

893 P.2d 692, 694 (1995)(Applying the statute to approval of any fees 

and/or request for an accounting); Key Bank of Washington v. K.uboth, 86 

Wash. App. 1035 (1997); In re Estate of Ardell, 96 Wash. App. 708, 714-

15, 980 P.2d 771, 775 (1999)(Applying the statute to review the personal 

representative's fees); In re Estate of Jones, 116 Wash. App. 353, 366, 67 

P.3d 1113, 1119 (2003), rev'd, 152 Wash. 2d 1, 93 P.3d 147 

(2004)(Applied to a right to petition for an accounting of the payment of 

fees at the end ofthe probate); In re Estate ofJones, 152 Wash. 2d at 18(In 

aRCW l-1.68.070removal formismamrgement·action,thecourtnoted that···- --
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the court could also order an accounting of fees under RCW 11.68.110 if 

the estate was still open); In re Estate of Harder, 185 Wash. App. 378, 

384, 341 P.3d 342, 345 (2015)(When challenging fees paid to a personal 

representative a petition challenging the fees or request for accounting 

must be filed) No reported case has ever held that RCW 11.68.110 confers 

on the court general jurisdiction to resolve a dispute regarding 

constmction of a will or any other dispute not involving fees in a 

nonintervention probate. If, as the Court of Appeals has mled, the 

accounting statute conferred general jurisdiction on the probate court to 

review the actions of the personal representative it would emasculate the 

nonintervention powers and make every nonintervention probate subject to 

court hearing simply by filing a petition for approval of fees. The 

legislature never intended such a result and the case law does not support 

such a result. 

The Court of Appeals mling is even contrary to its own previous 

cases. In re Estate of Ardell, 96 Wash. App. at 716, this Court noted that 

the submission to the probate court of a single issue, like the approval or 

accounting of fees, does not invest the court with jurisdiction over the 

subject matter of the entire estate. As the Court noted in regard to a fee 

petition filed pursuant to RCW 11.68.110 in In re Estate of Ardell, to 

-approve interim attorney fees: - --

12 



"Accordingly, the settlement agreement and the [earlier] petition 
for approval of fees together indicate Mr. Chatham invoked the 
jurisdiction of the superior court over the limited issue of fees. 
See In re Coates' Estate, 55 Wash. 2d 250, 258, 347 P.2d 875 
(1959) (the voluntary submission of a single issue by a 
nonintervention executor does not invest the court with jurisdiction 
over the subject matter of the entire estate).(Emphasis added) 

In re Estate of Ardell, 96 Wash. App. at 716. 

The Ardell court also noted that "Unlike petitions for orders 

regarding the settling of estate affairs, however, applications for approval 

or setting of fees generally invest the court with jurisdiction over that 

issue. In re Coates' Estate, 55 Wash. 2d at 258; In re Megrath's Estate, 142 

Wash. 324, 328, 253 P. 455, aff'd, 142 Wash. 324, 256 P. 503 (1927)." In 

re Estate of Ardell, 96 Wash. App. at 717.(Emphasis added) In addition, 

the Ardell court held that "[T]he trial court may reassert jurisdiction over a 

nonintervention estate after the filing of the declaration of completion in 

order to review the personal representative's fees under RCW 

11.68.070 citing In re Estate of Bobbitt, 60 Wash. App. at 631-34. In re 

Estate of Ardell, 96 Wash. App. at 15. (Emphasis added) If, as the Court 

of Appeals has ruled, the filing of the accounting petition conferred broad 

jurisdiction on the probate court, the remainder of the Ardell opinion that 

painstakingly discusses jurisdiction would have been unnecessary. In re 

Estate of Ardell, 96 Wash. App. 708 not only did the petitioner seek a 

13 



review of the fees but also sought to have the personal representative 

removed under RCW 11.68.070. 

The Court of Appeals ruling is clearly contrary to its own prior 

rulings and contrary to a number of rulings from tis Court and the Court 

of Appeals. If this ruling is left to stand the nonintervention powers 

would be rendered useless. If any beneficiary wanted to challenge any 

decision of the personal representative, according to this ruling, he would 

only have to file a Petition for Accounting. This would then magically 

provide the probate court with jurisdiction to hear any issue related to the 

administration of the probate. This would be a dramatic change in 

current probate law and would invalidate the nonintervention statutes. 

B. The probate court erred in concluding that the TEDRA statute 
(RCW 11.96A et. seq.) independently conferred upon the 
probate court general jurisdiction to interpret a will thereby 
invalidating the nonintervention statutes (RCW 11.68 et. seq.) 

The probate court erroneously ruled that the TEDRA statute 

provided independent jurisdiction to the probate court to hear any matter 

related to the administration of a probate, including requests to construe a 

will. This ruling is directly contrary to the legislative intent of the 

TEDRA statute, is contrary to the opinions of this Court and the Court of 

Appeals and would effectively abolish any nonintervention powers 

provided by statute. The Court of Appeals recently affirmed that the 

14 



legislature enacted TEDRA to provide for non-judicial dispute resolution 

methods for probate matters. By its terms the legislature made it clear that 

TEDRA provisions "'shall not supersede, but shall supplement, any 

otherwise applicable provisions and procedures' under Title 11 RCW. 

RCW 11.96A.080(2)." See In re Estate ofHarder, 185 Wash. App. at 384. 

TEDRA does not confer any new jurisdiction on the probate court, it only 

provides the probate court with procedural mechanisms to resolve disputes 

over which it has jurisdiction. In re Estate of Kordon, 157 Wash. 2d 206, 

137 P.3d 16 (2006), as amended (July 24, 2006). 

In Kordon, this Court addressed the issue of whether TEDRA 

tmmped the need to file and serve a citation required by RCW 11.24.020 

to invoke the Superior Court's jurisdiction, a procedure that is no longer 

required. The trial court had "issued an order admitting the Will to 

probate, declaring the estate solvent, and appointing [the] personal 

representative to act without intervention of the court." Id. at 208. One of 

the heirs initiated a will contest under chapter 11.24 RCW but neglected to 

issue a "citation" (then) required by RCW 11.24.020. Instead, the heir 

simply served her TEDRA petition on the personal representative. Two 

years later, the personal representative filed a motion to dismiss as a result 

of the heir's failure to issue a citation. The trial court dismissed that 

-action for lack ofjurisdiction. At the time of'appeal, the heir argued that 

15 
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"the Trust and Estate Dispute Resolution Act (TEDRA), chapter 11.96A 

RCW, eliminates the requirement to issue a citation to parties to an 

existing probate proceeding." Id. at 211. The Kordon court determined 

that "TEDRA expressly supplements chapter 11.24 RCW governing Will 

contests. See RCW 11.96A.080(2)." Id. at 211. However, this Court 

upheld the trial court's dismissal for lack of jurisdiction holding that 

"While TEDRA applies to Will contests, it 'shall not supersede, but shall 

supplement, any otherwise applicable provisions and procedures contained 

in this title,' including chapter 11.24 RCW. RCW 11.96A.080(2). A 

statute supersedes another statute by replacing it and supplements another 

statute by adding to it." Id. at 212. The probate judge's finding in the 

instant case is exactly contrary to K.ordon. The probate court effectively 

ignored the longstanding jurisdictional limitations in nonintervention 

probates and superseded those requirements by "finding" jurisdiction 

within the TEDRA statute. To permit the probate judge's mling to stand 

would effectively have TEDRA supersede the nonintervention powers 

resulting in an elimination of the nonintervention powers. 

C. The probate court erred in deciding that it had jurisdiction to 
interpret the will in this nonintervention probate pursuant to 
RCW 11.68.070, a statute that permits the court to remove a 
personal representative for misfeasance, where the 
Respondent filed a TEDRA action to interpret the will, had 
not claimed that RCW 11.68.070 applied, did not seek an 
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evidentiary hearing to determine if there was misfeasance, 
and was not seeldng to remove the personal representative. 

One of the ways for the probate court to regain jurisdiction in a 

nonintervention probate is set forth in RCW 11.68.070; and grants the 

court jurisdiction to intervene where a personal representative fails to 

execute his or her duties faithfully. The petition must specifically set forth 

the misfeasance. If misfeasance is established the probate court may 

remove the personal representative and appoint a new one. The reasons 

for removal are generally limited to such defalcations as waste, 

embezzled, mismanaged, or fraud upon the estate, or that the personal 

representative is incompetent to act, has wrongfully neglected the estate, 

or has neglected to perform any acts as such personal representative. In re 

Estate of Jones, 152 Wash. 2d at 10. Even though Respondent was not 

seeking a remedy under RCW 11.68.070 and the probate judge had not 

held any hearing to determine if any misfeasance existed, the probate 

judge felt that this statute conferred on him jurisdiction to construe the 

will. This ruling is contrary to the case law of this Court and the Court of 

Appeals and would invalidate the nonintervention powers in probate. The 

probate judge erroneously found jurisdiction under the "other reasons" 

language of RCW 11.28.250. This statute specifies a number of valid 

reasons for the probate court to assume jurisdiction and remove the

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