RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLERK'S OFFICE

No. 94356-7

5/19/2017 9:11 am
RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

Court of Appeals, Div. III No. 340511

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In the Matter of the Estate of:

Kathryn Joyce Rathbone

ESTATE OF KATHRYN JOYCE RATHBONE, TODD RATHBONE, Personal Representative,

Appellants,

vs.

GLEN L. RATHBONE,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LARSON FOWLES, PLLC By: Dwayne C. Fowles WSBA No. 27119 Attorneys for Respondent

Larson Fowles, PLLC 821 E. Broadway Ave. Ste. 8 Moses Lake, WA 98837-2458 (509) 765-6700

II. RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE

Kathryn Joyce Rathbone executed a will on December 27, 2010 (CP 51) and died on January 31, 2013. The will named Ms. Rathbone's son, Todd Rathbone, the Appellant herein, as personal representative, and Todd has served as the estate's personal representative with nonintervention powers.

Todd, in his capacity as personal representative, misinterpreted a provision of their mother's will in a manner that reduced Glen's share of the estate by approximately \$233,333, to the benefit of Todd and Ms. Rathbone's other son, Doug. Todd's proposed distribution of the estate contradicted their mother's intent, and it constituted self-dealing and a breach of Todd's fiduciary duty as the estate's personal representative.

On December 23, 2014, Todd filed a declaration of completion of probate (CP 107) and a notice of declaration of completion of probate (CP 111). A letter from Todd's attorney accompanying the notice reflected Todd's misinterpretation of the will and the reduction of Glen's share of the estate. CP 20.

Todd threatened Glen with complete disinheritance if Glen dared to challenge Todd's misinterpretation of the will. The notice of declaration of completion of probate filed by Todd referred to the "no contest" provision in the will and threatened that the "Personal Representative will consider any objection to the Completion of Probate as a 'contest' of the Will ..." CP 112-13. In addition, the letter from Todd's attorney which accompanied the notice added the specific threat that the "Personal Representative will consider any objection to the Completion of Probate as a 'contest' of the Will as provided above and will distribute Glen's portion of the estate to the remaining beneficiaries." CP 20.

On January 20, 2015, Glen filed a petition for order approving the reasonableness of fees and requiring an accounting pursuant to RCW 11.68.110. CP 115. On January 22, 2015, Glen filed a summons and petition for order construing will pursuant to

the Trust and Estate Dispute Resolution Act (TEDRA), RCW 11.96A, seeking the proper construction of the will and the enforcement of Ms. Rathbone's intent as expressed in her will. CP 1, 3.

Glen's TEDRA petition recited the above facts, including Todd's intentional misconstruction of the will to increase Todd's own share of the estate, thereby reducing Glen's share of the estate by \$233,333, and Todd's use of threats and intimidation to prevent Glen from challenging Todd's self-dealing and violation of his fiduciary duties.

After a hearing on Glen's TEDRA petition, the trial court concluded that Todd's proposed interpretation of the will was inconsistent with Ms. Rathbone's intent. RP 45-47. Todd did not challenge these findings of the trial court, and such findings are, therefore, verities on appeal. *In re Estate of Jones*, 152 Wn.2d 1, 8, 93 P.3d 147 (2004).

On appeal, Todd challenged the trial court's jurisdiction to hear Glen's TEDRA petition. The Court of Appeals, Division III, in an unpublished opinion, affirmed the trial court, concluding that Glen properly invoked the trial court's jurisdiction by filing a petition for an accounting under RCW 11.68.110. Once jurisdiction was in

place, TEDRA could act as a supplement, and the trial court was enabled to assess the manner in which Todd had administered the estate in light of the testator's intent as expressed in her will.

The Court of Appeals denied Todd's motion for reconsideration and his motion to publish the opinion.

III. GROUNDS FOR DENIAL OF REVIEW

A. The opinion is not in conflict with any decision of the Supreme Court or with any published opinion of the Court of Appeals.

Much of the argument included in Todd's petition for review focuses on the basis relied upon by the trial court to establish its jurisdiction to hear Glen's TEDRA petition. Rulings regarding jurisdiction concern statutory interpretation, which is a question of law and subject to de novo review. *In re Estate of Jones* at 8-9. Therefore, the specific statutory basis relied upon by Glen in bringing his TEDRA petition, and the specific statutory basis relied upon by the trial court in making its decision are irrelevant.

Once the court enters an order of solvency and grants nonintervention powers to the personal representative, the court no longer has jurisdiction in the matter, and jurisdiction can be again invoked only by a party authorized by statute to do so. *In re Estate of Jones* at 9. As this rule indicates, the court's jurisdiction over nonintervention probate proceedings is statutory, and it depends wholly on the legislative scheme. *In re Estate of Bobbitt*, 60 Wn. App. 630, 632, 806 P.2d 254 (1991).

One such statute, RCW 11.68.110, allows an heir to petition the court within thirty days of the filing of the declaration of completion for "an order requiring the personal representative to obtain court approval of the amount of fees paid or to be paid to the personal representative, lawyers, appraisers, or accountants, or for an order requiring an accounting, or both …" Filing such a petition prevents the personal representative from being automatically discharged without further order of the court, and it puts the onus on the personal representative to request the court to fix a time and place for the hearing of the heir's petition. RCW 11.68.110.

Therefore, pursuant to the clear and unambiguous language of this statute, every personal representative — even one with nonintervention powers — is ultimately answerable to the estate's heirs and to the court. Todd's assertion that his nonintervention powers shield his actions from scrutiny and allow him to disregard

his mother's testamentary intent with impunity is wholly inconsistent with the clear language and intent of RCW 11.68.110 which requires the personal representative to provide an accounting upon the request of any heir.

Todd also asserts that an heir's entitlement to an accounting under RCW 11.68.110 does not also include the right to scrutinize the personal representative's actions with regard to the administration of the estate. Todd cites no case law interpreting the statute in this way, and, in fact, such an interpretation would render the statute meaningless. An accounting reveals whether the personal representative has properly administered the estate. *In re Estate of Jones* at 17. To suggest that an heir is entitled to an accounting but is powerless to take any action to require the personal representative to properly administer the estate is absurd.

Requiring an accounting from a personal representative is also the means to ensure that the personal representative complies with other duties which apply to every personal representative, whether or not they are acting with nonintervention powers, such as the requirement to follow the testator's intent (RCW 11.12.230), and the requirement to comply with applicable fiduciary duties.

"The ethical standards for personal representatives remain the same, regardless of whether the representative performs his or her duties under court supervision. All personal representatives act in identical fiduciary capacities and must refrain from self-dealing, administer the estate solely in the interest of the beneficiaries, and uphold their duty of loyalty to the beneficiaries." *In re Estate of Jones* at 21.

In an effort to establish a conflict between the opinion of the Court of Appeals in this case and Washington case law, Todd provides a list of reported Washington appellate cases citing RCW 11.68.110 and states that none of the cases suggest "that RCW 11.68.110 would extend jurisdiction to the court to decide issues such as a will interpretation." Petition for Review, p. 11. Even if Todd's assessment of these cases were accurate, this does not establish a conflict between the opinion and Washington case law.

First, all of the cases cited by Todd were decided before the enactment of TEDRA. Since the court's jurisdiction over nonintervention probate proceedings is statutory and depends wholly on the legislative scheme (*In re Estate of Bobbitt* at 632), a comparison to these pre-TEDRA cases is of limited, if any, value.

Second, the opinion below does not rely upon a finding that RCW 11.68.110 extends jurisdiction to the court to decide issues such as a will interpretation. Under the current statutory scheme which applies to this case, RCW 11.68.110 and TEDRA operate together to support the exercise of the court's jurisdiction.

Once the court's jurisdiction was invoked by Glen pursuant to RCW 11.68.110, TEDRA could act as a supplement to the probate proceedings. *In re Estate of Harder*, 185 Wn. App. 378, 341 P.3d 342 (2015); RCW 11.96A.080. The "construction of wills" is explicitly included within the scope of TEDRA. RCW 11.96A.080(2). Therefore, the trial court had the jurisdiction and the authority to ensure that Todd construes and administers his mother's will in accordance with her intent.

Todd has not shown a basis for review because the decision below is consistent with the statutory framework and with case law governing jurisdiction in probate proceedings. The Court of Appeals did not create a new exception to nonintervention powers.

B. There is no issue of substantial public interest at stake to warrant review.

Todd issues this dire warning if the decision of the Court of

Appeals is allowed to stand:

If, as the Court of Appeals has ruled, the accounting statute conferred general jurisdiction on the probate court to review the actions of the personal representative it would emasculate the nonintervention powers and make every nonintervention probate subject to court hearing simply by filing a petition for approval of fees.

Petition for Review, p. 12.

Except for the exaggerated language, this is actually a relatively accurate statement of the law: simply by filing a petition under RCW 11.68.110, every nonintervention probate is subject to court hearing, and the probate court has the jurisdiction to review the actions of the personal representative. That is what the clear and unambiguous language of RCW 11.68.110 provides. In addition, TEDRA provides additional procedures for the judicial resolution of estate disputes, of which Glen availed himself in this case.

Todd's arguments and warnings are based on his apparent misunderstanding of nonintervention powers. According to Todd, the personal representative of a nonintervention probate would

never have to answer to anyone. This is the basis for Todd's assertion that his nonintervention powers allow him to misconstrue his mother's will in his own favor. This is simply not the case. As stated above, every personal representative, whether or not acting with nonintervention powers, owes a fiduciary duty to the estate's heirs and beneficiaries and has a duty to follow the testator's intent. Even in a nonintervention probate, the personal representative must ultimately answer to the heirs and to the court.

The opinion below adds no new restrictions or burdens on personal representatives of nonintervention estates. It simply reiterates the existing statutory framework.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth herein, Respondent Glen Rathbone respectfully requests this Court to deny the Petition for Review.